2016

**State of Utah, Plaintiff / Appellee, v. Jared Michael Watring,
Defendant / Appellant.**

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Court of Appeals is conferred with jurisdiction over the instant appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(e).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES / STANDARDS OF REVIEW / PRESERVATION

1. If the court's judgment – issued February 4, 2015 – was a valid, legal judgment, did the trial court lack jurisdiction to issue the subsequent judgment on February 12, 2015, imposing consecutive sentences.

Standard of Review: Whether a court has subject matter jurisdiction is “a question of law, which we review for correctness, granting no deference to the district court.” *See State v. Nichols*, 2006 UT 76, ¶ 3, 148 P.3d 990; *accord Beaver County v. Qwest, Inc.*, 2001 UT 81, ¶ 8, 31 P.3d 1147.

Preservation of Issue Citation or Statement of Grounds for Review: Issues involving jurisdiction go to the very power of the court to entertain a case and thus can be raised at any time.

2. Whether the trial court erred by determining that the imposition of concurrent sentences was a clerical error.

Standard of Review: This issue requires the interpretation of a rule of criminal procedure, and “[t]he interpretation of a rule of procedure is a question of law that [the appellate court] review[s] for correctness.” *State v. Rodrigues*, 2009 UT 62, ¶ 11, 218 P.3d 610 (quoting *Brown v. Glover*, 2000 UT 89, ¶ 15, 16 P.3d 540).

Preservation of Issue Citation or Statement of Grounds for Review: Defendant preserved this issue by way of his pro se Motion to Correct Illegal Sentence set forth at R. 35-47.

DETERMINATIVE AUTHORITY

The constitutional provisions, statutes, ordinances, rules, regulations, or case law whose interpretation is determinative, are set out verbatim, with the appropriate citation, in the body and arguments of the instant Brief of Appellant.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a question of the trial court's subject matter jurisdiction to entertain an action. Additionally, this case involves the authority of the court to correct a clerical error.

Defendant was charged with Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to Distribute, a second-degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8(1)(a)(iii) (Count 1), and Possession or Use of a Controlled Substance, a class B misdemeanor, in violation of 57-37-8(2)(a)(i) (Count 2). At the initial appearance, Defendant conditionally waived his right to a preliminary hearing.

On February 2, 2015 – Defendant appeared before the court and pleaded guilty to Possession or Use of a Controlled Substance, a third-degree felony. The trial court sentenced Defendant to a suspended term of zero to five years in the Utah State Prison with

three years probation, during which he would enter into and complete the RSAT program; the court then imposed a term of 365 days in jail. Judgment was entered that same day.

Defendant appeared on the RSAT calendar the next day and admitted violating probation in the prior case. Trial counsel asked the court to impose jail time and run the matters concurrent. The court continued sentencing. That same day – the court signed a second Judgment imposing the previously imposed sentence but ordered, “All cases and charges may run concurrent.”

At the continued sentencing hearing, trial counsel again requested that the court impose jail time or, in the event that prison was imposed, that the court run the matters concurrent. The State requested prison time and consecutive sentences. Accordingly, the court revoked probation and imposed original sentences – which in the prior case resulted in two terms of zero to five years in the Utah State Prison, running concurrent with each other. In this case, the court imposed a term of zero to five years in the Utah State Prison to run consecutive with the sentence in the prior case with a specific recommendation for further treatment in prison.

On July 14, 2015, Defendant filed a pro se Motion to Correct Illegal Sentence. Defendant also requested a hearing and appointment of counsel. The State did not respond.

On September 15, 2015, the court issued its ruling and order denying Defendant’s Motions. The Ruling and Order on Motion to Correct Illegal Sentence was signed by the

court on September 15, 2015, and entered that same day. Defendant filed a timely pro se notice of appeal on October 13, 2015.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. *Charges*

By way of Information filed January 22, 2015, Defendant was charged with Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to Distribute, a second-degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8(1)(a)(iii) (Count 1), and Possession or Use of a Controlled Substance, a class B misdemeanor, in violation of 57-37-8(2)(a)(i) (Count 2) (R. 1-2). According to the charging document, AP&P officers searched Defendant's apartment on December 16, 2014, discovering two bags of psilocybin mushrooms, \$200 in cash, and Tramadol, a controlled substance (R. 2). At the initial appearance, Defendant conditionally waived his right to a preliminary hearing (R. 14).

B. *Plea and Sentencing*

On February 2, 2015 – shortly after his initial appearance – Defendant appeared before the court and pleaded guilty to Possession or Use of a Controlled Substance, a third-degree felony (R. 19; R. 89:11-13). After a waiver of time for sentencing, the trial court sentenced Defendant to a suspended term of zero to five years in the Utah State Prison with three years probation, during which he would enter into and complete the RSAT program

(R. 89-90). Additionally, the court also imposed a term of 365 days in jail (R. 90:1-3; *see also* R. 19). Judgment was entered that same day (R. 19-20).¹

Defendant appeared on the RSAT calendar the next day and admitted violating probation in the prior case (R. 95:2-6). Trial counsel asked the court to impose jail time and run the matters concurrent (R. 95:15-24). The court continued sentencing (R. 97:5-6). That same day – the court signed a second Judgment imposing the previously imposed sentence and ordered, “All cases and charges may run concurrent.” (R. 28-29).²

At the continued sentencing hearing, trial counsel again requested that the court impose jail time or, in the event that prison was imposed, that the court run the matters concurrent (R. 100:9-17). Alternatively, counsel asked that if the court were to be so inclined as to impose consecutive sentences, that it affirmatively recommend Defendant eligible for further treatment at the prison (R. 100-01). The State requested prison time and that the matters run consecutive (R. 101-02). Accordingly, the court revoked probation and imposed original sentences – which in the prior case resulted in two terms of zero to five years in the Utah State Prison, running concurrent with each other (R. 103-04). In the instant case, the court imposed a term of zero to five years in the Utah State Prison to run

¹*See* Amended – Minutes – Change of Plea – Sentence, Judgment, Commitment, R. 19-20, signed and entered February 2, 2015, a true and correct copy of which is attached to this Brief as Addendum A.

²*See* Minutes – Change of Plea – Sentence, Judgment, Commitment, R. 28-29, signed February 3, 2015, and entered February 4, 2015, a true and correct copy of which is attached to this Brief as Addendum B.

consecutive with the sentence in the prior case with a specific recommendation for further treatment in prison (R. 104:7-10; *see also* R. 32-33).³

C. *Motion to Correct Illegal Sentence*

On July 14, 2015, Defendant filed a pro se Motion to Correct Illegal Sentence, arguing that the court imposed an illegal sentence when it originally sentenced him with the matters running concurrent but then subsequently imposed consecutive sentences (R. 35-47).⁴ Defendant also requested a hearing and appointment of counsel (R. 48-49). The State did not respond.

The court – on September 15, 2015 – issued its ruling and order denying Defendant’s Motions (R. 50-53). In its ruling, the court reasoned that the failure to determine whether to impose concurrent or consecutive sentences for the offenses constituted an illegal sentence pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-401(1) (R. 51). The court further reasoned that the determination to impose concurrent sentences set forth in the subsequent Judgment constituted a “clerical error” pursuant to Utah Rule of Criminal Procedure 30(b) (*Id.*). Finally, the court determined that the Judgment – entered February 12, 2015 – constituted a correction of “the illegal sentence by ordering Defendant’s sentences for the cases to run consecutive.” (R. 52).

³See Minutes – Post Sentencing Judgment / Commitment, R. 32-33, signed and entered February 12, 2015, a true and correct copy of which is attached to this Brief as Addendum C.

⁴See Defendant’s pro se Motion to Correct an Illegal Sentence, R. 35-47, a true and correct copy of which is attached to this Brief as Addendum D.

The Ruling and Order on Motion to Correct Illegal Sentence was signed by the court on September 15, 2015, and entered that same day (R. 50). Defendant filed a timely pro se notice of appeal on October 13, 2015 (R. 54-55).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. Because the court's judgment – issued February 4, 2015 – was a valid, legal judgment, the trial court lacked jurisdiction to issue the subsequent judgment on February 12, 2015, imposing consecutive sentences. On February 2, 2015, Defendant appeared before the court and pleaded guilty to Possession or Use of a Controlled Substance, a third-degree felony. After a waiver of time for sentencing, the trial court sentenced Defendant to a suspended term of zero to five years in the Utah State Prison with three years probation, during which he would enter into and complete the RSAT program. Additionally, the court also imposed a term of 365 days in jail. Judgment was entered that same day.

Defendant appeared on the RSAT calendar the next day and admitted violating probation in the prior case. Trial counsel asked the court to impose jail time and run the matters concurrent. The court continued sentencing. That same day, the court signed a second Judgment imposing the previously imposed sentence and ordered, "All cases and charges may run concurrent." By running the sentences concurrent as required by Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-401(1), the court imposed a valid sentence and consequently lost subject matter jurisdiction over the case for purposes of resentencing.

At the continued sentencing hearing, trial counsel again requested that the court impose jail time or, in the event that prison was imposed, that the court run the matters concurrent. Alternatively, counsel asked that if the court were to be so inclined as to impose consecutive sentences, that it affirmatively recommend Defendant eligible for further treatment at the prison. The State requested prison time and that the matters run consecutive. Accordingly, the court revoked probation and imposed original sentences – which in the prior case resulted in two terms of zero to five years in the Utah State Prison, running concurrent with each other. In the instant case, the court imposed a term of zero to five years in the Utah State Prison to run consecutive with the sentence in the prior case with a specific recommendation for further treatment in prison. Because the court lost jurisdiction after imposing the previous Judgment, the court’s subsequent Judgment, signed and entered on February 12, 2015, was void and had no effect on Defendant’s substantial rights.

2. The trial court erred by determining that the imposition of concurrent sentences was a clerical error. In determining whether an error was clerical, the reviewing court generally focuses on three factors: (1) whether the order or judgment that was rendered reflects what was done or intended, (2) whether the error is the result of judicial reasoning and decision making, and (3) whether the error is clear from the record.

As to the first factor, the Judgment ordering that “[a]ll cases and charges may run concurrent” reflected what occurred at the sentencing on February 2, 2015, because it

accurately reflected the fact that the trial court had imposed “a suspended term of zero to five years in the Utah State Prison” as well as placing Defendant on “probation” and to the RSAT program in addition to a 365-day jail term. Consequently, the imposition of concurrent sentences accurately reflected the trial court’s suspended sentence. That intent was expressed in the nature of the sentence imposed shortly before the court ordered, “All cases and charges may run concurrent.” Based on the nature and language utilized at sentencing, the trial judge intended to give Defendant the benefit of concurrent sentences.

As to the second factor, the concurrent sentencing was a result of judicial reasoning and decision making inasmuch as the trial judge – shortly before ordering concurrent sentences – imposed a suspended prison sentence that included jail and probation. This suspended sentence and its attendant conditions demonstrates the judicial reasoning supporting the imposition of concurrent sentences. Thus, the ordering of concurrent sentences was a result of the trial court’s judicial reasoning and decision making; indeed, concurrent sentencing was consistent with the reasoning the trial judge actually expressed in his decision.

As to the third factor, any claimed error is not apparent from the record because such a claim of error is inconsistent with the trial court’s suspended prison sentence. To argue otherwise would be to refuse to give weight to the reasoning expressed by the trial court in imposing the suspended prison sentence before ordering the concurrent sentences. This is

consistent with the legal principle that “it is ultimately the intent of the court or fact finder that is binding.”

In sum, the order of concurrent sentences reflected what the trial court intended, that ordering concurrent sentences was the result of judicial reasoning and decision making, and the record demonstrates the trial court’s intention to provide Defendant with the benefit of concurrent sentencing. Therefore, the trial court’s order that “[a]ll cases and charges may run concurrent” did not constitute a clerical error and the trial judge was not authorized to “excise the improperly included language regarding concurrent sentencing.

ARGUMENTS

I. BECAUSE THE COURT’S JUDGMENT – ISSUED FEBRUARY 4, 2015 – WAS A VALID, LEGAL JUDGMENT, THE TRIAL COURT LACKED JURISDICTION TO ISSUE THE SUBSEQUENT JUDGMENT ON FEBRUARY 12, 2015, IMPOSING CONSECUTIVE SENTENCES.

Whether a court has jurisdiction is a threshold issue, which can be raised at any time. *Glezos v. Frontier Investments*, 897 P.2d 1230, 1233 (Utah Ct. App. 1995) (citations omitted). “[S]ubject matter jurisdiction goes to the very power of a court to entertain an action.” *See id.* “Furthermore, subject matter jurisdiction cannot be conferred upon a court by consent or waiver, and a judgment can be attacked for lack of subject matter jurisdiction at any time.” *Van Der Stappen v. Van Der Stappen*, 815 P.2d 1335, 1337 (Utah Ct. App. 1991) (citing *Thompson v. Jackson*, 743 P.2d 1230, 1232 (Utah Ct. App. 1987)). “Without

subject matter jurisdiction, a court is powerless to adjudicate a case.” *State v. Rhinehart*, 2007 UT 61, ¶ 19, 167 P.3d 1046 (citing *United States v. Cotton*, 535 U.S. 625, 630, 122 S.Ct. 1781 (2002)).

Our supreme court recognizes the “continuing jurisdiction of a trial court to correct an illegal sentence.” *State v. Babbel*, 813 P.2d 86, 88 (Utah 1991). “Because an illegal sentence is void, the court does not lose jurisdiction over the sentence until that sentence has been corrected.” *Id.* Conversely, “[o]nce a court imposes a valid sentence, it loses subject matter jurisdiction over the case.” *Id.* (citing *State v. Lee Lim*, 79 Utah 68, 74, 7 P.2d 825, 827 (1932)). “A judgment or order entered by a court lacking subject matter jurisdiction is void and does not affect the rights of any party.” *State v. Vaughn*, 2011 UT App 411, ¶ 12, 266 P.3d 202 (citing *Van Der Stappen v. Van Der Stappen*, 815 P.2d 1335, 1337 (Utah Ct. App. 1991) and *Johnson v. Johnson*, 2010 UT 28, ¶¶ 8-9, 234 P.3d 1100).

On February 2, 2015, Defendant appeared before the court and pleaded guilty to Possession or Use of a Controlled Substance, a third-degree felony (*see* R. 19; R. 89:11-13). After a waiver of time for sentencing, the trial court sentenced Defendant to a suspended term of zero to five years in the Utah State Prison with three years probation, during which he would enter into and complete the RSAT program (R. 89-90). Additionally, the court also imposed a term of 365 days in jail (R. 90:1-3; *see also* R. 19). Judgment was entered that same day (R. 19-20).⁵

⁵*See* Addendum A.

Defendant appeared on the RSAT calendar the next day and admitted violating probation in the prior case (R. 95:2-6). Trial counsel asked the court to impose jail time and run the matters concurrent (R. 95:15-24). The court continued sentencing (R. 97:5-6). That same day, the court signed a second Judgment imposing the previously imposed sentence and ordered, “All cases and charges may run concurrent.” (R. 28-29).⁶ By running the sentences concurrent as required by Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-401(1),⁷ the court imposed a valid sentence and consequently lost subject matter jurisdiction over the case for purposes of resentencing. *See Vaughn*, 2011 UT App 411 at ¶ 12, 266 P.3d 202; *Montoya*, 825 P.2d at 679.

At the continued sentencing hearing, trial counsel again requested that the court impose jail time or, in the event that prison was imposed, that the court run the matters concurrent (R. 100:9-17). Alternatively, counsel asked that if the court were to be so inclined as to impose consecutive sentences, that it affirmatively recommend Defendant eligible for further treatment at the prison (R. 100-01). The State requested prison time and that the matters run consecutive (R. 101-02). Accordingly, the court revoked probation and imposed original sentences – which in the prior case resulted in two terms of zero to five years in the Utah State Prison, running concurrent with each other (R. 103-04). In the

⁶See Addendum B.

⁷According to Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-401(1), “A court shall determine, if a defendant has been adjudged guilty of more than one felony offense, whether to impose concurrent or consecutive sentences for the offenses.”

instant case, the court imposed a term of zero to five years in the Utah State Prison to run consecutive with the sentence in the prior case with a specific recommendation for further treatment in prison (R. 104:7-10; *see also* R. 32-33).⁸ Because the court lost jurisdiction after imposing the previous Judgment, the court's subsequent Judgment, signed and entered on February 12, 2015, was void and had no effect on Defendant's substantial rights. *See State v. Rodrigues*, 2009 UT 62, ¶ 13, 218 P.3d 610 ("Once a court imposes a valid sentence and final judgment is entered, the court ordinarily loses subject matter jurisdiction over the case.").

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DETERMINING THAT THE IMPOSITION OF CONCURRENT SENTENCES WAS A CLERICAL ERROR.

Rule 30 of the Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure provides that "[c]lerical mistakes in judgments . . . may be corrected by the court at any time." Utah R. Crim. P. 30(b). In *State v. Rodrigues*, 2009 UT 62, 218 P.3d 610, our supreme court recognized that

A clerical error is one made in recording a judgment that results in the entry of a judgment which does not conform to the actual intention of the court. On the other hand, a judicial error is one made in rendering the judgment and results in a substantively incorrect judgment.

Id. at ¶ 14, 218 P.3d 610 (quoting *Thomas A. Paulsen Co. v. Industrial Comm'n*, 770 P.2d 125, 130 (Utah 1989)); *see also State v. Perkins*, 2014 UT App 60, ¶ 10, 322 P.3d 1184.

⁸*See* Addendum C.

In determining whether an error was clerical, the reviewing court generally focuses on three factors: “(1) whether the order or judgment that was rendered reflects what was done or intended, (2) whether the error is the result of judicial reasoning and decision making, and (3) whether the error is clear from the record.” *Rodriguez*, 2009 UT 62 at ¶ 14, 218 P.3d 610.

As to the first factor, the Judgment stating that “[a]ll cases and charges may run concurrent” reflected what occurred at the sentencing on February 2, 2015, because it accurately reflected the fact that the trial court had imposed “a suspended term of zero to five years in the Utah State Prison” as well as placing Defendant on “probation” and to the RSAT program in addition to a 365-day jail term (R. 89-90). Consequently, the imposition of concurrent sentences accurately reflected the trial court’s suspended sentence. After all, “it is ultimately the *intent* of the court or fact finder that is binding.” *Rodriguez*, 2009 UT 62 at ¶ 15, 218 P.3d 610 (emphasis added). That intent was expressed in the nature of the sentence imposed shortly before the court ordered, “All cases and charges may run concurrent.” *See generally id.* at ¶ 23 (“We have specifically defined a judicial error as the deliberate result of the exercise of judicial reasoning and determination.” (citation and internal quotation marks omitted)). Based on the nature and language utilized at sentencing, the trial judge intended to give Defendant the benefit of concurrent sentences.

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