2016

**State of Utah, Plaintiff/ Appellee, v. Jared Michael Watring,  
Defendant/ Appellant.**

Utah Court of Appeals

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendant seeks a sentencing windfall from an illegal order that was followed by a clerical mistake. The only honest reading of the transcripts of

---

<sup>2</sup> With his brief, Defendant includes the amended judgment as Addendum A and describes it as though it was in fact entered on February 2, 2015. (Br.Aplt. at 5.) This appears to be incorrect. The footer at the bottom of the judgment notes that the document the court signed was printed on September 21, 2015 – after the court denied Defendant’s motion. (See Add. D.) The court ordered “that the clerical error in the Minute Entry for Defendant’s February 2, 2015 hearing be corrected by the issuance of an Amended Minute Entry.” (Add. G at 3.) Addendum D to this brief (Addendum A to Defendant’s brief) appears to be that judgment and is docketed as “Amended Minutes 2/2/15.” Although unfortunately ambiguous, this document does not appear to be contemporaneous with the hearings and judgments at issue in this appeal.



the three relevant hearings is that no one involved – not the court, the Defendant, defense counsel, or the prosecutor – thought that the court ever ordered concurrent sentences. Months after the fact, Defendant stumbled across a mistake in the record and now tries to cash it in for a sentence reduction.

Utah law mandates that the court “*shall state on the record and shall indicate in the order of judgment*” whether the sentence is to run concurrent with or consecutive to any other sentences the defendant is serving. Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-401(1) (West 2015) (emphasis added). Failure to do so renders the resulting sentence illegal. Defendant does not dispute that no such statements were made at the February 2nd hearing. The sentence imposed was therefore illegal because it omitted a statutorily-required term.

The statement in the February 3rd judgment regarding concurrent sentences was a clerical error because, as the court held, it did not reflect its intent at the February 2nd hearing. There was no statement at the hearing regarding concurrent sentences, no judicial intent to enter such an order, and the record as a whole shows that neither the parties nor the court believed the concurrent/consecutive issue was resolved until the February 10th hearing. Furthermore, the February 3rd judgment could not correct the illegal sentence even if it was not clerical error because the judgment did not

supply the required "on the record" statement mandated by Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-401(1). Therefore, the district court retained jurisdiction until it issued the February 12th judgment.

The February 10, 2015 hearing and its resulting February 12, 2015 judgment were the first time the court entered a valid sentence, thereby correcting the prior illegal sentence.

This Court should affirm the district court's February 12, 2015 judgment and sentence and its denial of Defendant's rule 22(e) motion.

## ARGUMENT

### I.

#### THE FEBRUARY 3RD JUDGMENT DID NOT DIVEST THE COURT OF JURISDICTION TO CORRECT ITS ILLEGAL SENTENCE

##### A. The February 2, 2015 sentence was illegal.

"[D]eterminations of concurrent or consecutive sentencing are to be made at the time of final judgment." *State v. Yazzie*, 2009 UT 14, ¶8, 203 P.3d 984. "A court *shall* determine, if a defendant has been adjudged guilty of more than one felony offense, whether to impose concurrent or consecutive sentences" and "*shall state on the record and shall indicate in the order of judgment and commitment*" whether sentences are to be concurrent or consecutive with each other and "with any other sentences the defendant is

already serving.” Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-401(1)(a)-(b) (West 2015) (emphasis added).

This did not happen at the February 2, 2015 hearing. At that hearing the court made no determination on the record regarding concurrent or consecutive sentences. This fact alone makes the sentence illegal because it “omits a term required to be imposed by statute.” *Yazzie*, 2009 UT 14, ¶13, (adopting definition of “illegal sentence” promulgated by *United States v. Dougherty*, 106 F.3d 1514, 1515 (10th Cir. 1997)); *see also id.* ¶16. “As a rule, illegal sentences are void and neither create rights nor impair or affect any rights.” *Id.* at ¶17 (citing *State v. Babel*, 813 P.2d 86, 88 (Utah 1991)). When a sentence is illegal, “the jurisdiction of the district court continues until a valid sentence is imposed.” *Id.*

Much like Defendant here, Yazzie was on probation for two felonies when he was convicted of two more felonies. *Id.* at ¶¶2-3. The court sentenced him for the new felonies, suspended the sentence and imposed jail time and probation, but made no mention of whether the new sentences would be concurrent with or consecutive to the old ones. *Id.* ¶3. Yazzie later violated his probation and the judge in the second case imposed the suspended sentences and only then ordered them to run consecutive to the sentences in Yazzie’s prior case. *Id.* at ¶4. The Utah Supreme Court held

that the concurrent/consecutive determination was a statutorily-required term of the sentence and its omission left the original sentence incomplete and therefore illegal. *Id.* at ¶ 16. The Court then held that the later parole revocation and sentencing “in effect, corrected the illegally imposed sentence” by satisfying the statutory requirements, resulting in a valid sentence. *Id.* at ¶ 17. The facts of this case are even stronger than *Yazzie* because here we have the district court’s own factual findings about its lack of intent to impose concurrent sentences at the February 2nd hearing. (Add. G at 3.) Defendant neither discloses *Yazzie* nor confronts its reasoning and holding.

Because the sentence imposed at the February 2, 2015 hearing omitted the same term at issue in *Yazzie*, the February 2nd sentence was illegal. The central question then becomes: When did the district court correct the illegal sentence and impose a valid one? Defendant argues that occurred the next day when the court signed the written order that included language about concurrent prison terms. (Br.Aplt. at 12.) But that language was clerical error and, even if it was not, it did not impose a valid sentence in any event.

**B. The court correctly held that the February 3rd judgment imposing concurrent sentences was clerical error.**

Rule 30(b) provides that “[c]lerical mistakes in judgments, orders or other parts of the record and errors in the record arising from oversight or



omission may be corrected by the court at any time.” Utah R. Crim. P. 30(b). Hence, the existence of jurisdiction to amend the original sentencing order hinges on whether the district court was correcting a clerical error under rule 30(b), Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure. *See State v. Rodrigues*, 2009 UT 62, ¶13, 218 P.3d 610.

A rule 30(b) analysis requires distinguishing between clerical and judicial errors. *See id.* at ¶14. “A clerical error is one made in recording a judgment that results in the entry of a judgment which does not conform to the actual intention of the court. On the other hand, a judicial error is one made in rendering the judgment and results in a substantively incorrect judgment.” *Id.* (quoting *Thomas A. Paulsen Co. v. Indus. Comm’n*, 770 P.2d 125, 130 (Utah 1989)). The appellate court “look[s] to the record to harmonize the intent of the court with the written judgment” in order to determine whether the mistake is clerical. *See id.* (quoting *State v. Lorrach*, 761 P.2d 1388, 1389 (Utah 1988)). The inquiry does not turn on the identity of the one who made the error, but rather “whether the error ‘is clearly a formal error that should be corrected in the interest of having [the] judgment, order, or other part of the record reflect what was done or intended.’” *Id.* (quoting *Bishop v. GenTec, Inc.*, 2002 UT 36, ¶30, 48 P.3d 218 (additional quotations omitted)). In short, the Court looks at “(1) whether

the order or judgment that was rendered reflects what was done or intended, (2) whether the error is the result of judicial reasoning and decision making, and (3) whether the error is clear from the record.” *Id.* at ¶14.

Defendant’s entire argument as to each of the three *Rodriguez* factors rests on the court’s imposition of the suspended prison term. (Br.Aplt. at 14-15.) But that singular fact is not logically related to the concurrent/consecutive question and does not compel Defendant’s conclusion.

**1. The district court did not intend to rule on concurrent or consecutive sentences at the February 2nd hearing.**

An error in the recording of a judgment is clerical when it results in “the entry of a judgment which does not conform to the actual intention of the court.” *Rodriguez*, 2009 UT 62, at ¶15 (quotation omitted). The parties’ intent may be considered in the analysis, but “it is ultimately the intent of the court or fact finder that is binding.” *Id.* Efforts to correct a clerical error “must be undertaken for the purpose of reflecting the actual intention of the court.” *Id.* (quoting *Lindsay v. Atkin*, 680 P.2d 401, 402 (Utah 1984)).

Defendant argues that “[b]ased on the nature [sic] and language utilized at sentencing, the trial judge intended to give Defendant the benefit of concurrent sentences.” (Br.Aplt. 14.) He claims that the mere act of

imposing a suspended prison term, 365 days in jail, and probation reflects an intent to give concurrent sentences. *Id.* But that does not follow. Utah courts impose suspended sentences that run consecutive to prior sentences all the time – especially where a jail term and probation are imposed. It is just as likely that the court intended Defendant’s suspended sentence, jail, and probation to begin after any previously imposed sentences expired. Not only are these terms not mutually exclusive with a consecutive sentence, they have no logical connection to one another. Defendant cites no cases for his proposition, nor does he point to any specific language in the transcript to support it – for the simple reason that the record of the February 2nd hearing is silent on the subject of concurrent or consecutive sentences in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-401(1)(a)-(b).

The entire February 2nd transcript runs only three and a half pages and is subject to only a single interpretation: The district court – admittedly tired and “confused” at the hearing, (R. 93) – did not give a moment of thought to the subject of concurrent or consecutive sentences. The bulk of the transcript concerns the plea colloquy. (R. 87-90.) The sentencing occupies only nine lines of text at the very end and reflects some internal confusion about the hearing itself, with the judge saying “As you know, I sentenced you to 365 days in the county jail” when there was no mention of

any such thing prior to that. (R. 89-90.) Nothing in the transcript supports Defendant's reading.

*Rodrigues* makes clear that the distinction between clerical and judicial error does not hinge on who makes the error – the judge or the clerk – but on whether the error is one that must be corrected in order to have the judgment accurately reflect what the court intended. *See Rodrigues*, 2009 UT 62, ¶14. The clerical error analysis looks at the intent of the district court, not the accuracy of the court clerk in recording the judgment announced by the court. *See id.* at ¶14 & n.4.

*State v. Perkins*, 2014 UT App 60, 322 P.3d 1184, illustrates this point. There, the on-the-record statements and the judgment *both* imposed concurrent sentences, yet both were found to be clerical error. *Id.* at ¶¶14-15. Perkins pled to two child abuse counts while on parole. The district court expressed outrage at Perkins's history of child abuse, stating "I quite frankly don't think you should ever walk the streets again," yet moments later stated, "I'm going to sentence you to two third degree felonies, zero to five years on each one to run concurrently with each other" and "concurrently" to the sentences Perkins was then serving. *Id.* at ¶5. The clerk issued a written judgment reciting concurrent sentences. *Id.* at ¶6. When the mistake was pointed out, the court ruled the error was clerical



because the record reflected a clear intent to impose consecutive sentences, notwithstanding the words spoken. *Id.* This Court affirmed, despite unambiguous statements imposing concurrent sentences in both the record and judgment. *Id.* at ¶16. Thus, it did not matter that the clerk issued a written ruling that accurately reflected the words the judge spoke, because the words themselves were the clerical error. Judges and clerks can both make correctable clerical errors.

Here, the facts are at least as strong as *Perkins*. With a silent record, Defendant tries to take advantage of the court clerk mistakenly filling the hole in the sentencing by including boilerplate language regarding concurrent sentences. But the fact that the court clerk later included the errant language in the February 3rd judgment is not itself evidence of the court's intent. The court's intent must be gleaned from the hearing and the surrounding facts. The hearing contains nothing but silence. And the surrounding facts suggest an understanding by all participants that no decision on concurrent or consecutive sentences was reached at the February 2nd hearing. As such, the February 3rd judgment does not reflect what was done or intended at the hearing. *See Rodriques*, 2009 UT 62, ¶14.

2. The error was not a result of judicial reasoning or decision making and the error is clear from the record.

Defendant makes the same flawed arguments for the second and third *Rodrigues* factors, asserting the same conditional syllogism: If a court imposes a suspended sentence, then it intends to impose concurrent prison terms. But the premise does not compel the conclusion. The court's reasoning in imposing a suspended sentence implies nothing about the judge's reasoning on when that sentence should begin in relation to other sentences. As discussed above, this record is quite clear that the judge did not engage in any "reasoning" or thought of any kind regarding concurrent sentences at the February 2nd hearing.

That the clerk later mistakenly included the language regarding concurrent sentences in the judgment does not retroactively create judicial reasoning where there was none. Indeed, at the February 3rd hearing the court heard argument from defense counsel regarding concurrent sentences, and then punted the issue. (R. 94-95.) After discussing sentencing generally with defense counsel, the court said, "Mr. Bushell, if you're going to request perhaps I consider something else, can we continue this a week so I can pull the pre-sentence report?" (R. 96.) Defense counsel agreed and the court noted "I'd like to know a little bit more, and I'd like to pull the pre-sentence

report.” (R. 97.) The court then concluded, “Okay. We’ll continue the sentencing one week, and we’ll pull the pre-sentence report.” *Id.*

When the parties arrived at the February 10th hearing they spent approximately half of their time arguing the concurrent/consecutive issue. (R. 100-102.) The court considered the arguments and statements from the Defendant, made factual findings, and imposed consecutive sentences, on the record, as required by Utah Code section 76-3-401(1)(a)-(b). Everything about this chain of events suggests that the court and the parties explicitly refrained from finally addressing the concurrent/consecutive issue until the February 10th hearing, and that the February 3rd judgment was therefore clerical error. *See Rodrigues*, 2009 UT 62, ¶14.

It does not matter if the February 3rd order was signed before or after the February 3rd hearing; on this record, the order makes no sense either way. When Defendant argues that the February 3rd judgment reflects the court’s intent at the February 2nd hearing he does not account for any events after the hearing. *See Perkins*, 2014 UT App 60 at ¶15 (discussing the importance of the court’s actions after the clerical error). He simply ignores them. However, if one views the February 3rd order as reflecting the court’s intent from February 2nd, the later arguments of counsel and the considerations of the court become nonsensical.

The court's failure to correct defense counsel at the February 3rd hearing when he begins asking for concurrent sentences by informing him that the issue had already been decided can only be read as indicating that the court was not aware of the language in the February 3rd judgment. Even more perverse would be the judge "pretending" to want to review the pre-sentence report and "know a little bit more" about an issue that he had secretly decided just before the hearing or, alternatively, going ahead and deciding immediately after the hearing despite his cutting off counsel on the issue and his ruling to continue the sentencing. Under Defendant's version of the facts, the February 10th hearing, complete with arguments of counsel directly on the topic and rulings by the court imposing consecutive instead of the previous concurrent sentences becomes little more than farce.

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